9- INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

THE GOVERNOR

Shawwal 27, 1434 H September 3, 2013

THE CHAIRMAN,

Circular No. (2/FS, IFS/312/2013) to All Financing Companies subject to the Supervision of the Central Bank of Kuwait

In the context of keeping up with the developments in corporate governance standards, especially in light of what was revealed by the global financial crisis that weak governance and the failure to implement sound practices were among the group of factors that contributed to the outbreak of that crisis, and in accordance with the requirements of Article (217) of Law No. 97 of the year 2013 to amend some articles of Decree-Law No. (25) of the year 2012 issuing the Companies Law, which stipulates that "the relevant regulatory authorities shall set the rules of governance for the companies under their supervision, in order to achieve the best protection and balance between the interests of the company's management, its shareholders, and other stakeholders related to it, as well as providing the conditions that must be met by independent members of the board of directors".

The Central Bank of Kuwait's Board of Directors approved, in its session held on 3/9/2013, the issuance of the attached instructions regarding "Rules and Regulations of Governance for Finance Companies Under the Central Bank of Kuwait's Supervision", to implement these instructions as of its date.

These instructions include a set of basic pillars for corporate governance standards, starting with the importance of the role assigned to boards of directors, as the instructions emphasized the need for the board of directors to assume all its responsibilities towards the company, including setting strategic goals, developing corporate governance standards on an ongoing basis, actively participating in the organization of the company and bearing all responsibilities related to the soundness of its financial position, safeguarding the interests of shareholders, depositors and stakeholders' parties, focusing on risk management and its governance, and strengthening internal control systems, as well as internal and external auditing. These instructions also include an emphasis on consolidating the principle of the independence of the board of directors in terms of the commitment of each member of the board to carry out his role towards the company and towards all its shareholders without being under the influence of any factor that may limit his ability to consider the company's matters and discuss them impartially and objectively. Furthermore, these instructions emphasize the importance of board members having the necessary expertise in the field of financial business, with the need to develop their expertise to keeping up with the financial developments on an ongoing basis.

With regards to the importance of activating the supervisory role of the board of directors and the executive management's effective supervision, the instructions included the formation of a group of committees emanating from the board of directors with the aim of enhancing the effectiveness of the board's control over the important operations in the company, including the risk committee and the audit committee in addition to three other committees, namely the governance committee, the nomination committee, and the remuneration committee, with the possibility of merging some of these committees into one committee.

In line with the development in governance standards on an international level, these instructions included some important pillars related to remuneration systems and policy and linking them to the company's performance and the time range of risks in the long term, not only in the short term, in addition to expanding and strengthening disclosure standards. The instructions stress the importance of transparent legal and organizational structures for companies and their groups to allow easy risk management, in addition to stressing the importance of behavioral values as one of the important pillars of governance standards, in particular defining professional standards that enhance the integrity of the company, including the existence of written policies on conflicts of interest, related parties, and confidentiality in the financial business, in addition to the responsibility of boards of directors to protect the rights of shareholders and stakeholders.

The Central Bank of Kuwait hopes that these instructions will contribute in developing governance standards for Kuwaiti finance companies and improving practices in their operations and activities for the benefit of the Kuwaiti financial sector and economy.

With my best wishes,

The Governor Dr. Mohammad Y. Al-Hashel

Instructions Regarding the Rules and Regulations of Corporate Governance in the Financing Companies, which are subject to the Supervision of the Central Bank of Kuwait
August 2013

CHAPTER TWO: The Law, Supervisory & Regulatory Instructions & Controls on Financing Companies

Table of contents

Introduction	5
Chapter One: Definitions	8
Chapter Two: Sound Practices and Compliance with Implementing the Instructions	9
First: Sound Corporate Governance Practices:	
Chapter Three: The Main Pillars of the Instructions	11
Pillar One: Board of Directors	11
Pillar Two: Corporate Values, Conflicts of Interest and Group Structure	17
Pillar Three: Executive Management	23
Pillar Four: Risk Management and Internal Controls	25
Pillar Five: Remuneration Granting Systems and Policy	32
Pillar Six: Disclosure and Transparency	37
Pillar Seven: Companies with Complex Corporate Structures	
Pillar Eight: Protection of Shareholders' Rights	45
Pillar Nine: Protection of Stakeholders' Rights	46

Introduction

The issue of corporate governance has occupied the forefront of economic administrations in different countries as a result of the financial crises that hit large joint-stock companies and led to mistrust in the soundness of management in the companies and the validity of their declared financial results and the reality of the prices of companies' shares in the stock market which has various negative repercussions. The recent financial crisis, which worsened during the last quarter of 2008, came to reaffirm the importance of the issue of governance, in light of what this crisis revealed that weak governance standards and failures in applying sound practices, whether in banking, financial or other corporate business, was among the group of factors that contributed to the outbreak of the global financial and economic crisis.

The issue of governance, especially in financial institutions, takes on special importance due to the enormity of the risks and repercussions resulting from improper practices in the financial business in light of the nature of the role these institutions play in the economic conditions. As well as in the nature and importance of the products and services that these institutions provide to the national economy. Therefore, sound governance practices are important for these institutions and the financial system, which makes effective governance one of the important pillars of financial stability.

The Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) has given the issue of governance a special importance, as it has issued, since the nineties, many instructions and controls related to the issue of governance. In May 2004, the Central Bank issued instructions related to governance (principles of sound management of banks and financial institutions), guided by the principles of corporate governance issued by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) in April 2004, and by the principles issued at that time by the Institute of International Finance (IIF) concerning best practices in banking.

In the context of keeping pace with the developments of international supervisory standards aimed at strengthening governance standards in banks and other financial institutions, CBK issues these instructions concerning "rules and regulations of governance for finance companies under its supervision", to replace the instructions issued in April 2004. These instructions include the development of the aforementioned corporate governance standards, taking into account the lessons learned from the recent global financial crisis and the new governance standards issued in this regard, particularly the paper issued by the Basel Committee on banking supervision, in October 2010, concerning "The Principles for Strengthening Corporate Governance", and the principles issued from the Financial Stability Board regarding remuneration systems, and the recommendations that came in the World Bank Working Group's report regarding the evaluation of governance standards in Kuwaiti banks issued in late 2010,

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

in addition to what standards are applied in some countries in the region. The new standards also took into consideration the structure of the Kuwaiti financial sector, the basic features of the economy and the degree of its integration with the global economy, and other factors that would emphasize the importance of the issue of governance in financial institutions.

These instructions included a set of basic pillars for the standards of governance, starting with the importance of the role assigned to boards of directors, as the instructions emphasized the need for the board of directors to assume all its responsibilities towards the company, including setting strategic objectives, governance standards, and effective participation in organizing the company and bearing all responsibilities related to its financial integrity, as well as maintaining the interests of shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders, focusing on risk management and governance, strengthening internal control systems, and internal and external auditing. The instructions include the emphasis on consolidating the principle of the board of directors' independence in terms of the compliance of each member of the board to carry out his role towards the company and all its shareholders without being under the influence of any factor that may limit his ability to consider the company's matters and discuss them impartially and objectively, taking into consideration the protection of the minority's rights. These instructions emphasize the need for members of the board of directors to undertake their role in developing the public trust in the company's management so that the board of directors takes into account, in terms of enhancing the company's profits, the impact of risks on the interests of creditors and other stakeholders and on the financial stability. The instructions emphasize the importance of board members having the necessary expertise in the field of financial business, with the need to continuously develop their expertise in keeping pace with financial developments.

Moreover, with regards to the importance of activating the supervisory role of the board of directors and the effective supervision of the executive management, the instructions included the formation of a group of committees emanating from the board of directors with the aim of enhancing the effectiveness of the board's control over the important operations in the company, including the governance committee, nominations committee, remuneration committee, risk committee and audit committee.

In line with the development of governance standards at a global level, these instructions included updating and developing some important pillars related to remuneration systems and policy and linking them to the company's performance and risks not only in the short term but also in the long term, in addition to strengthening disclosure standards, and the transparency of the legal and organizational structures of these companies and their groups, which allows for risk management with ease, as well as emphasizing the importance of behavioral values as one of the important pillars of governance standards, particularly in identifying professional standards that enhance the integrity of the company,

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

including the existence of written policies on conflict of interest, related parties, and confidentiality, in addition to the responsibility of boards of directors to protect the rights of shareholders and stakeholders.

The Central Bank of Kuwait hopes that these instructions will contribute in developing governance standards for Kuwaiti finance companies and improving practices in the financial business for the benefit of the Kuwaiti economic sector.

Chapter One: Definitions

- Corporate Governance: is the way in which the affairs and business of companies are organized by their boards of directors and the executive management, which determines the proper methods in setting the goals and strategies of companies and their daily operations, and ensuring the achievement of the accountability principle before shareholders, taking into account the rights of the relevant parties, the rules and instructions issued by the supervisory authority, the protection of rights of shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders and the necessity to develop strong risk management systems.
- Non-Executive Board Member: is a member of the board of directors who is not dedicated to managing the company nor is authorized by the board to carry out one or more of the company's business. This does not include the role assigned to these members through the committees emanating from the board of directors.
- First-Degree Relatives: father, mother, husband, wife, and children.
- **Related Parties**: when determining the related parties, what is used in international accounting standards and international financial reporting standards, and any amendments thereto, shall be taken.
- Parent Company: the company (entity) that has one or more subsidiaries.
- **The Group**: is the parent company and all its subsidiaries.
- **Subsidiary**: A facility that is controlled by another company, usually known as the parent company.
- **Stakeholders**: Any person or entity that has a relationship with the company, such as shareholders, employees, creditors, customers, suppliers, society, and other stakeholders.
- **Financial Remuneration**: is for the purpose of applying these instructions such as salaries, wages, allowances and the like, periodic or annual bonuses related to performance, short or long-term incentive plans, and any other inkind benefits, including stock option systems.
- Companies (Company): conventional and Islamic Kuwaiti finance companies registered in the finance companies registry with the Central Bank of Kuwait.
- **Board of Directors**: this means the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors of the company, unless otherwise specified.

Chapter Two: Sound Practices and Compliance with Implementing the Instructions

First: Sound Corporate Governance Practices:

As stated in the introduction of these instructions, the practice of effective governance by financial institutions is considered one of the basic factors to strengthen trust in the financial system, and it is necessary for the proper functioning of this sector and the performance of the overall economy. The weak standards of governance may result in stumbling in these companies' business, which may constitute high costs on the country and have consequences and repercussions that have wide implications on the economy, especially in the event of a systemic crisis that negatively affects the payment and settlement systems. Good corporate governance practices involve the distribution of powers and responsibilities, which is the way in which the company's business affairs are organized by the board of directors and the executive management, including how to:

- Establish the company's strategy and objectives.
- Determine the company's "Tolerance / Risk Appetite".
- Operate the company's business on a day-to-day basis.
- Protect the interests of creditors, fulfil the obligations towards shareholders, and take into consideration the interests of other stakeholders.
- Implement and execute activities in a safe, secure, and impartial manner, while adhering to applicable laws and instructions.
- Manage the company, while taking into consideration not to expose the financial sector to any systemic crisis.

Sound governance standards are considered an essential element in the company's safe and sound business, as well as contribute to enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of the control system, and protecting the interests of creditors, while the company may face high risks in the event that governance standards are not effectively implemented in which negative effects might occur on the financial sector. Companies must take into account the challenges they face in the area of governance, represented by the complex ownership structures that lack transparency and as mentioned in these instructions. Therefore, companies must ensure that their ownership structures do not impede proper governance. In all cases, sound corporate governance must ensure that many basic functions are performed appropriately, and the organizational structure of companies must include important forms of control that include appropriate regulations and balances represented by the presence of supervision from the board of directors, supervision from the executive management, direct supervision on the company's activities, and independent risk management, in addition to audit and compliance verification functions.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

Second: The Companies' Compliance with Implementing these Instructions:

Within the framework of the efforts made by CBK to enhance the standards and practices of governance in the units under its supervision, and to achieve the objectives of the governance of financial institutions, it is necessary for each company within the framework of these instructions, to carry out the following:

- a. Prepare a governance manual to be approved by the board of directors and publish it on the company's website, provided that the manual includes the rules and regulations contained in these instructions as a minimum, and that it is updated annually, and whenever needed.
- b. The company shall, within its annual report, prepare a Governance Report on the extent of the company's compliance with the provisions of the governance manual, while explaining the application of these instructions, as well as stating the reasons for non-compliance with any clause that has not been applied in the specified cases in which the company may face, when applying some of these instructions hereof, practical difficulties, as per the principle of "Comply or Justify".
- c. These instructions, compared to the instructions issued in May 2004, has dealt with additional issues regarding governance standards, including the expansion of the number of committees emanating from boards of directors, as contained in these instructions, the matter requires companies to make the necessary amendments in their articles of association that are in line with the implementation of the instructions, especially with regard to increasing the number of council members to meet the requirements of forming additional committees, as well as other decisions that may be required by the general assemblies regarding the implementation of these instructions.
- d. The independent external auditor for each company must include, in the annual report submitted to CBK, the evaluation of the internal control systems, particularly about the company's compliance to implement these instructions.
- e. These instructions apply to conventional finance companies and finance companies that operate in accordance with the provisions of Islamic Sharia, and are registered in the Finance Companies Registry at CBK. In the context of implementing these instructions, companies operating in accordance with the provisions of Islamic Sharia must notice any other regulatory or supervisory controls related to their activities.
- f. In the framework of implementing these instructions, finance companies must notice the provisions of prevailing laws concerning the application of the instructions and standards mentioned in these instructions in this field.

Listed below are the main pillars, which represent the minimum limits that companies must adhere to:

Chapter Three: The Main Pillars of the Instructions

Pillar One: Board of Directors

1) General Responsibilities of the Board of Directors:

The board of directors bears the overall responsibility of the company, including setting strategic goals for the company, risk strategy, and governance standards, as well as the responsibility for implementing these goals and standards and overseeing the safety of their implementation, in addition to the responsibility for supervising the executive management. In this context, the board of directors shall:

- a. Carry out all responsibilities related to the company's operations and financial integrity, ensure that the requirements of CBK are met, safeguard the interests of shareholders, creditors, employees, and other stakeholders, and ensure that the company's management is executed in a prudent manner and within the framework of applicable laws, instructions and internal policies of the company.
- b. Draw up the strategic objectives of the company in addition to supervising its executive management, which is responsible for day-to-day operations. The board shall also approve the internal control and supervisory systems, ensure their effectiveness, and the extent of the company's compliance with the strategic plan, policies and procedures approved or required under the issued laws and instructions, as well as ensure that all company risks are properly managed.
- c. Develop the concept of public trust in the management of the company by taking into consideration the impact of risks on the interests of creditors and the financial system, and this includes emphasizing that the role of corporate boards of directors should not be limited to the concept of profitability, but also takes into account the impact of risks on the interests of creditors and on financial stability.
- d. Establish the principle of the board of directors' independence and emphasize the importance of the compliance of each member of the board to carry out his role towards the company and all its shareholders without being under the influence of any factor that may limit his ability to consider, discuss and decide on company matters with impartiality and objectivity, taking into account the protection of rights of shareholders. In cases where the controlling shareholders have the power to appoint members of the board of directors, then the members of the board must exercise their responsibilities towards the company regardless of the entity that appointed them.

- e. Ensure the review of transactions with related parties and verify the integrity of these operations.
- f. Verify the availability of written policies with the company covering all its financing activities and that they are circulated in all administrative levels, and review them regularly to ensure that they include updated amendments or changes to the laws, instructions, economic conditions and any other matters related to the company.
- g. Determine the company's goals and direct the executive management to draw up a strategy in order to achieve these goals. The executive management develops business plans in line with these strategies, through a planning process that includes the contribution from all departments of the company. The board shall approve the strategy and action plans and ensure that the executive management reviews the performance achievements in accordance with the business plans and that corrective measures have been taken where necessary.
- h. Take into account that the process of preparing the estimated budgets is part of the short-term planning and performance measurement process, and companies should take into account that their business plans cover more than one year.

2) **Supervising the Executive Management:**

To this end, the board of directors shall:

- a. Appoint a chief executive officer of the company, after obtaining CBK's approval, that has integrity, technical competence and experience. The approval of the board must also be obtained when appointing a deputy of the executive body or appointing some executive directors, such as the financial director, the director of internal audit, and the head of risk management, and to ensure the availability of qualifications and experiences commensurate with the nature of their jobs.
- b. Provide adequate supervision over the executive management to ensure that it performs the role assigned to it in the framework of the company's achievement of its goals and objectives, and the commitment to implement the policies approved by the board of directors. In particular, the Board must:
 - 1. Monitor that executive management's actions are consistent with the strategy and policies approved by the board, including the risk tolerance/appetite.
 - 2. Meet regularly with executive management to discuss various company's business.
 - 3. Question and review critically explanations and information provided by executive management.
 - 4. Set formal performance standards for executive management consistent with the long-term objectives, strategy and financial soundness of the company, and monitor executive management's performance against these standards.

- 5. Ensure that the members of the executive management have the educational qualifications and professional experience as required for the nature of the company's business and aspects of risks.
- c. Ensure that the company's organizational structure possesses the transparency and clarity needed to facilitate effective decision making and good governance. This should include setting and enforcing lines of responsibility and accountability throughout the organization, which define clearly the key responsibilities and authorities of the board itself, as well as of executive management and the control functions.
- d. Ensure segregation between the posts of the Chairman and the CEO, and that there are no familial or any other relation between them which might affect the independence of the decision of each. The segregation of responsibilities shall be by means of written instructions approved by the Board and reviewed on a need basis.
- e. Regularly review with executive management the policies, processes and controls and/or internal control functions (including internal audit, risk management and compliance) in order to determine areas needing improvement, as well as to identify and address significant risks and issues. The board shall also ensure that the control functions are properly positioned, staffed and resourced, and that they are carrying out their responsibilities independently and effectively.
- f. Set out succession plans for the replacement of members of the executive management in cases of vacancy. These succession plans shall include the qualifications and requirements that must be met by the occupants of such positions.

3) Composition of the Board:

- a. The board shall have an adequate number and appropriate composition of board members allowing the formation of adequate number of board committees within the framework of the requirements of sound governance standards.
- b. The Board shall comprise of members who have diverse knowledge and skills contributing to the independence of their decisions.

4) The Chairman of the Board (Chairman):

As the chairman of the board plays a crucial role in the proper functioning of the board and the maintenance of mutual trust among members, he shall carry out the following:

a. Ensure that the board decisions are taken on a sound and well-informed basis. He should encourage and promote critical discussion and ensure that dissenting views can be expressed and discussed within the decision-making process.

- b. Build a constructive relationship between the board and the company's executive management.
- c. Create a culture during board meetings which encourages constructive criticism towards dealing with controversial issues among the board members and encourage discussion and voting.
- d. Ensure that all board members and shareholders are receiving adequate information on timely basis.
- e. Ensure high levels of corporate governance standards at the company.

5) Organization of Board Business:

- a. Board meetings should not fall below six (6) meetings a year, and at least one (1) meeting during the quarterly evaluation period. Minutes of the meetings shall be written and shall form an integral part of the company's records.
- b. The Chairman, in consultation with the executive management, shall propose the key issues to be listed on the agenda for each meeting. These issues should be comprehensive.
- c. The Board members should be provided with sufficient information, adequately before the board meetings, enabling them to review the issues before taking appropriate decisions.
- d. The responsibilities of the chairman and board members shall be clearly specified in writing, whereby they do not conflict with the relevant legislations and regulations. The Nomination Committee shall provide each new member, once elected, with the manual which sets out his rights, obligations, and responsibilities.
- e. The company shall specify in writing all financial operations which require the approval of the Board (including for example the board's authority to grant loans which exceed a certain amount, or its authority on transactions with related parties, or any other financial transactions that fall under the jurisdiction of the Board).
- f. The Board and board committees, when needed, shall have the authority to outsource experts and consultants to make use of their opinion to perform the tasks assigned to them.
- g. The Board shall evaluate the CEO performance annually.
- h. The Board shall carry out a periodic review of the CG practices to ensure their effectiveness and introduce any improvements thereto. This review shall be carried out on annual basis.

- i. The Board of Directors shall appoint a Board Secretary who has the appropriate qualifications and experience, and define his duties in line with the responsibilities assigned to him, and these tasks include:
 - Ensure the execution of the procedures approved by the Board in terms of exchanging information among board members, committees and the executive management.
 - Arrange the agenda and write down the minutes.
 - Write down all the Board's discussions and directors' suggestions, and the results of voting taking place during the meetings.
 - Record, coordinate and keep all board meeting minutes, records, and reports submitted to the board. The meeting minutes shall be signed by him and all the members present. The Board shall determine the Board Secretary's functions in an official and written manner in line with the level of responsibilities referred to above.

Any decision related to the appointment or discharge of the Board Secretary should be made by the Board.

6) **Board Members' Qualifications:**

Board members should be and remain qualified, through training for their positions. They should have a clear understanding of their role in corporate governance and be able to exercise sound and objective judgment about the affairs of the company. In this context:

- a. The board members should possess appropriate experience, personal integrity and competencies. They should also abide with good business practices and work on toning their experience through proper training.
- b. The board collectively should have adequate knowledge and experience relevant to key financial activities, corporate governance and effective supervision, finance, accounting, lending, financial operations, payment systems, strategic planning, governance, risk management, internal control, company's regulations and instructions. The Board should further collectively have adequate knowledge in local, regional, international economic development as well as the organizational and supervisory environment.
- c. This principle applies to a board member in his capacity as a member of the full board and as a member of any board committee.
- d. The Board members should remain fully updated about the situation within the company as well as local and international financial sectors. The bank shall provide the board members with an adequate briefing of the company's business upon appointment and during their membership term or upon request.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

7) Training:

- a. The board members should regularly develop their skills and experiences mainly in corporate governance and risk management and in light of the developments of the future outlook of the risks faced by the bank in a dynamic working environment.
- b. Proper international corporate governance requires board members to deepen their knowledge and skills and to fulfill their responsibilities by having access to tailored training programs. They should participate in conferences and seminars on financial business.

Pillar Two: Corporate Values, Conflicts of Interest and Group Structure

First: Corporate Values

The board shall specify proper corporate governance practices for its business. It shall ensure that enough resources are available to follow these practices and review them regularly to achieve improvement. The board shall exemplify proper corporate governance to the extent it helps in the fulfillment of its tasks efficiently, and reflect a clear picture on the bank's expectations and goals. In this context:

- a. A demonstrated corporate culture that supports and provides appropriate norms and incentives for professional and responsible behavior is an essential foundation of good governance. In this regard, the board should take the lead in setting professional standards and corporate values that promote integrity for the company, the board, the executive management and other employees.
- b. The board shall ensure the bank's high level of integrity in the practice of its business. Therefore, a bank's code of conduct, or policy, should define conflict of interests, as well as insider dealings based on inside information obtained/accessed to as a result of vested authorities. These policies and code of conduct should be circulated to all bank's employees and board members with sign-off requested for compliance. These policies shall include the following:
 - 1. Rules and regulations organizing third party transactions.
 - 2. Rules shall contain a clause which confirms that the same conditions applicable to customers shall apply to the granting of credit to board members and related parties without any preferential terms. This shall also be in accordance with any CBK instructions issued in this regard.
 - 3. The board member shall not be allowed to participate in the discussion of any items on the agenda pertaining to that board member, directly or indirectly, during the meeting where such items are being discussed in addition to related transactions, dealings, or voting.
 - 4. The company shall ensure the adequacy of the internal control systems in connection to related parties, and that all transactions have been processed as per the approved policy.
 - 5. The company shall ensure the adequacy of the internal control systems in connection to related parties, and that all transactions have been processed as per the approved policy.
 - 6. Each company shall set out appropriate mechanism to deal with customers' complaints based on CBK instructions in this regard, in order to achieve the necessary protection for the customers.

7. The company shall post these policies on its website and specify the extent of its compliance with the same under the corporate governance report issued in the company's annual report.

Second: Conflict of Interests:

- a. The board shall have a formal written conflicts of interest policy. The policy should include a definition, independence of implementation and disclosure, whether such conflict arises between the board members and the company or between the executive management and the company.
- b. These policies shall cover all matters related to conflict of interests and its likelihood, including for example:
 - 1. A member of the board of directors should avoid activities that may lead to a conflict of interest.
 - 2. Obtaining the approval of the Board of Directors on any activity carried out by a member of the Board that may result in a conflict of interest, and verifying that such activity will not create a conflict of interest.
 - 3. The member should disclose any matter that may result, or has already resulted, in a conflict of interest.
 - 4. The member should abstain from voting on any matter where the member may have a conflict of interest or where it may effect on the objectivity of voting.
 - 5. Adequate procedures for transactions with related parties should be made on an equal basis, and provide the way in which the board will deal with any non-compliance of the policy.
 - 6. The conflict of interest policy shall include examples of cases in which a conflict arises for a member of the board of directors.

Third: Related Parties:

- a. The company shall have a formal written related party policy. This policy should contain the rules and procedures organizing transactions with these parties, whether between the company and its employees, or between the company and its board members or subsidiaries or related parties, including transactions such as lending and mutual trading with the company.
- b. The company shall keep records of related parties' transactions and ensure these transactions are adequately audited.
- c. The company shall disclose all its related parties based on the definition of related parties under the International Accounting Standards. The companies shall also keep lists and monitor all transactions with existing or new related parties while taking into account the company's approved policies.

d. The company shall disclose all transactions with related parties in accordance with the relevant international standards and any other local supervisory or regulatory authorities related to the company.

Fourth: Governance Standards on Confidentiality in the Financial Business:

Confidentiality in the financial business is considered a key principal due to the confidence and reassurance granted to all persons dealing with the financial institutions concerning maintaining the confidentiality of their business, the confidentiality of the information and data they have related to their financial assets and the practiced activities. That is why the confidentiality is a major pillar of a legislative environment stimulating savings, investments, and luring of foreign capital. It is also considered basic component of a proper operational medium for national savings and stimulating investment. Failure to preserve confidentiality would compromise confidence in the companies which do not respect such confidentiality. This scope may include the entire financial institutions and the negative implications on financial stability.

In this context, the company shall have a formal written confidentiality policy concerning maintaining the confidentiality of information and data related to the business. This policy should stress the following:

- 1. The board members shall be committed to preserve the confidentiality of the data and information of the company and its customers, as well as data and information of other customers, which have come to the knowledge of the company's employees in the course of performing their duties.
- 2. No disclosure of any data or information pertaining to company and its customers unless by authorized parties and as permitted by instructions and bylaws.
- 3. Information security of the company and its customers shall be preserved. Supervisory controls shall be set to prevent unauthorized access thereto. The company's board shall be responsible for setting the supervisory controls to restrict unauthorized access to such data and information, and to ensure that the supervisory controls at the company impede any leak of information that might compromise or prejudice the confidentiality.
- 4. The company's board and the executive management should be aware of their responsibilities in developing security awareness at the company to enhance and preserve secrecy.
- 5. No board member or employee at the company may use the information available for him on the state of affairs of the institution for the sake of achieving self-interests or interests for other related parties.
- 6. The policies should contain that the company's audit shall monitor its implementation.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

Fifth: Group Structures and Board of Parent Company

In cases where it is permitted to establish a subsidiary company, and in a group structure, the board of the parent company has the overall responsibility for adequate corporate governance across the group and ensuring that there are governance policies and mechanisms appropriate to the structure, business and risks of the group and its entities. In this context:

- a. The board of the parent company should be aware of the material risks and issues that might affect both the company as a whole and its subsidiaries. It should therefore exercise adequate supervision over the subsidiaries, while respecting the independent legal and governance responsibilities that might apply to regulated subsidiary boards.
- b. In order to fulfill its corporate governance responsibilities, the board of the parent company should:
 - 1. Establish a governance structure which contributes to the effective supervision over the subsidiaries and which takes into account the nature, scale and complexity of the different risks to which the group and its subsidiaries are exposed to.
 - 2. Assess the corporate governance structure periodically to ensure it remains consistent with revenue growth, and increase complexity and geographic expansion.
 - 3. Approve a corporate governance policy at the group level for its subsidiaries, which includes the commitment to meet all applicable governance requirements.
 - 4. Understand the roles and relationships among correspondent companies and between them and the parent company.
 - 5. Ensure that enough resources are available for each subsidiary to meet both group standards and local governance standards of local supervisory authorities.
 - 6. Provide appropriate means and instruments to ensure that each subsidiary complies with all applicable governance requirements.

Sixth: Committees Emanating from the Board:

The board shall set up other board committees that would contribute to enhancing the effectiveness of the board's supervision of important operations. Such committees shall submit periodic reports to the board depending on the nature of the tasks of each committee. The presence of such committees shall not exempt the board from assuming direct responsibility for all matters related to the company. In this context, the board shall carry out the following:

- a. Comply with the principle of transparency upon appointing committee members. Names of these committee members shall be disclosed along with an outline of their tasks and responsibilities in the company's annual report.
- b. Appointing adequate number of non-executive board members in the concerned committees in tasks might lead to conflict of interests cases.
- c. Continuous follow up of the committees' tasks by the Chairman to ensure the implementation of the tasks assigned thereto and obtain a progress report on a quarterly basis at least.
- d. Formation of an audit committee, a risk management committee, in addition to three other committees that can be merged into one committee, which are the governance committee, the nominations committee, and the remuneration committee (the governance, nominations and remuneration committee). The chairman of the board shall not be a member in neither the risk committee nor the audit committee. In the following, we shall refer to the composition and tasks of the governance committee and nomination committee, whereas the composition and tasks of the three other committees were already covered in the relevant pillars under these instructions.

Governance Committee:

The governance committee shall emanate from the board comprising of three members from the members of the board and headed by the chairman of the board. The tasks of the governance committee shall include the following:

- 1. Prepare the governance manual and approving it by the board, so that this manual is consistent with the instructions issued by CBK, and what is stipulated in any other laws or instructions in the field of governance.
- 2. Prepare the corporate governance report that is published in the company's annual report concerning the company's compliance with the provisions of the governance manual.
- 3. Follow up on the application of the rules and regulations of corporate governance by the company, and provide the board with an annual report on the correct application of these rules and other observations in this regard.
- 4. Coordinate with the audit committee in the framework of verifying the proper implementation of these instructions.
- 5. Hold periodic meetings, with no less than two meetings per year, with the minutes of the meetings written.

Nomination Committee:

The nomination committee shall emanate from the board comprising of three members and include the committee chairman whom should not be an executive member. The tasks of the nomination committee shall include the following:

- a. Submit recommendations to the board on the nomination of the board membership in accordance with the approved policies and standards, and CBK's instructions regarding the controls set for the board membership nomination.
- b. Conduct an annual review of the skills required for the membership of the board and preparation of description of the capabilities and qualifications required for boards membership, with annual review of the board structure, as well as drawing recommendations on the changes that can be made in line with the best interest of the company.
- c. Conduct an annual appraisal of the performance of the board as a whole, and the performance of each member. Such appraisal shall cover the expertise and knowledge possessed by the members, evaluation of their authority and powers, and their leadership characteristics. The board may assign a specialized advisory entity to conduct this appraisal.
- d. Provide information and updates on the company's critical issues, and submit reports and information to the board members, as well as ensure that the board members are constantly updated on the latest relevant company business issues. To that end, the board shall develop a system encouraging its directors to attend seminars and events which allow them to meet with local and international institutions with the view to develop their financial skills.
- e. Holds periodic meetings, with the minutes of the meetings written.

Pillar Three: Executive Management

The Executive Management shall, under the supervision of the board, ensure that the company's activities are in line with the corporate strategy, risk appetite, and the policies approved by the board.

- a. The executive management comprises a group of people appointed by the board to carry out their role in the company operation management such as the CEO, his deputies and assistants. These individuals are supposed to have the academic qualifications, required experience, and personal integrity to run the company's business. The executive management is accountable for its oversight of the company's management.
- b. The executive management shall primarily contribute to the sound corporate governance of the company through personal conduct (for example by assisting in setting the initiative approach side by side with the board) through adequate control over activities run, and ensuring that the company's activities are in line with the corporate strategy, risk appetite, and the policies approved by the board.
- c. The executive management is responsible for assigning tasks to the employees and promoting a structure which encourages accountability and transparency. The executive management should remain aware for its oversight responsibility of such assignment and its responsibility for the company's performance before the board.
- d. The executive management shall execute (in agreement with the board's orientation) the appropriate risk management systems (financial or non-financial) risks faced by the company, and shall place effective internal control systems, and ensure that the company's activities are in line with its corporate strategy, risk appetite, and the policies approved by the board. It shall further contribute to the proposals related to the company's strategy and annual budget.
- e. The executive management shall be responsible for oversight and supervision of the company business, and in particular, ensuring compliance function, risks supervision, autonomy and task segregation; in which it is not affecting the independence contained in these instructions.
- f. The executive management shall provide the board of directors, at least every two months, with financial and administrative reports wherein the executive management has also to comply with the principles of transparency and objectivity. The board shall rely on the executive management's expertise in the execution of the board's resolutions without any intervention in its jurisdiction. In case any board member wishes to participate in the execution of the board resolutions, such participation shall be based on an authorization issued by the board, and the board shall be notified accordingly.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- g. The executive management should exercise its activities in accordance with business code of conduct.
- h. The executive management shall prepare the financial statements in accordance with the approved applicable standards including CBK instructions issued in this regard.

Pillar Four: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The company shall maintain effective internal controls and systems for risk management function whereby there is autonomy for these functions, including a risk management head with independence and easy access to the board and the chairman of the risk committee without impediments.

First: Internal Controls:

- a. The board shall approve an organizational structure aligned with the nature of the company's business and activities to ensure organizational controls needed to execute the strategy approved by the board by identifying objectives for each business unit, setting out tasks and responsibilities, and identifying authorities and communication lines for the administrative officers at all levels to achieve dual control and segregation of responsibilities, and to avoid task conflict and operational risks. The board shall also maintain policy and procedure manuals for processing and supervising operations, along with job descriptions for the different job titles whereby qualifications and experiences are identified.
- b. The board shall ensure periodically (at least once a year) the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems as needed to protect the company's properties, assets, soundness of its financial statements, efficiency of its operations at the administrative, financial, and accounting levels, compliance with these different supervisory controls, and to ensure at the same time that such controls provide the company with the required protection against any unauthorized access inside or outside the company.
- c. The board shall ensure that the internal audit staff possess independence and qualifications, and that the scope, procedures, and frequency of audit are consistent with the different risk grades the company is exposed to. The board shall appoint and assign the head and staff of internal audit and determine their privileges to stress independence and competency of the audit.
- d. Effective board performance requires the board to make use of the observations of the internal and external audit as well as the internal control assessment reports. The board shall also recognize the internal and external audit as crucial supervision tools and make use of the audit reports recognizing them as independent review of the information submitted from the executive management to the board.
- e. The company shall ensure that the internal control system assessment process and the other technical and consultation tasks shall not be assigned to the company audit offices. Furthermore, it shall ensure that the other technical and consultation tasks of accounting nature (assessment of accounting records, guidance on accountancy solutions...etc.) to companies that are economically or legally connected to these firms, whether such connection is by way of joint ownership or joint management.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- f. The board shall include in the company's annual report a report on the adequacy of the internal control systems identifying the responsibility of the executive management with regards to setting such systems, and the framework used by the executive management to assess the effectiveness thereof, along with the assessment of the effectiveness as at the date of the financial statements included in the company's annual report. Disclosure of any weakness in the internal control systems shall be considered of substantial value.
- g. The company's annual report shall include the external auditors' report, giving their opinion on the assessment of the internal control systems.
- h. The company shall establish communication channels between the employees and the chairman allowing them to convey any concerns on the possibility of violations, in a manner allowing independent investigation and follow up of such concerns. Such process shall include providing the employees with the needed protection and allowing adequate reassurance that they will not be under any threat or penalty even if such concerns could not be confirmed. The execution of these processes shall be supervised by the internal audit at the company.

Second: Risk Management

Risks should be identified and supervised on an ongoing company-wide and individual company basis, and the company's risk management and internal control infrastructures should keep pace with any changes to the company's risk profile. The risk management function, in general, plays a vital role in identifying and measuring main risks at the company, reporting on risk exposures, and supervising such exposure against the company's risk appetite, identifying the capital needs on continuous basis, and supervising and assessing the decisions on accepting certain types of risks. In this context:

- 1. The company should set up, and develop, strong and comprehensive systems and procedures for risk management, whereby it is able to identify the nature of all effective risks which the company is exposed to.
- 2. The company should consider the risks it may face as a result of adopting new products, or as a result of change in the size of activity, changes in the operating environment or the type of portfolio/economic environment, taking these variables into consideration when measuring risks. The company should adopt the qualitative, as well as quantitative measurements when measuring such risks.
- 3. The company should appoint a head of risk management, with qualifications and expertise suitable to the nature and tasks of this function. Such head shall be authorized to directly communicate with the chairman of board and the chairman of the risk management, emanating from the board, and shall submit his reports to both. In this context:

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- a. Head of risk management shall be independent, and shall not be assigned with any financial tasks.
- b. Head of risk management should hold meetings with the non-executive board members and members of the risk committee, without the attendance of the executive management.
- c. Head of risk management should have the ability to influence the company's decisions relating to exposure to risks. This requires vesting in the head of risk management the authority to discuss with the executive management to obtain their opinion on such decisions.
- 4. Dismissal or exclusion of the head of risk management, for any reason whatsoever, shall not take place without obtaining prior approval of the board of directors. The company shall discuss such reasons with CBK prior to his dismissal.
- 5. Risk management shall be responsible for identifying, measuring, supervising, and mitigating the risks, as well as preparing reports on the company's exposures to risks. In this context, overlap between the various types of risks shall be considered, such as overlap between market and credit risk, and between credit and operating risk.
- 6. The board of directors should provide adequate support to the function of risk management, providing this department with the confidence and importance of its functions.
- 7. Risk management function should be sufficiently independent from the departments and units of which the exposures are reviewed by the risk management department, taking into consideration that such independence would allow the risk managers access to the local and foreign activities that requires understanding, or request certain information regarding such activities, in order to properly assess their exposures.
- 8. Risk management function should be given access to all lines of financial activity with probable generation of high risk on the company, in addition to the authority to report directly to the chairman of risk committee and executive management.
- 9. Adequate resources should be provided for the risk management, including providing it with qualified personnel.
- 10. Irrespective of any liability to the risk management regarding performing its roles, the final responsibility should be shouldered by the board of directors.
- 11. The company's annual report shall include adequate information on risk management, in terms of structure, independence, nature of operations, and developments during the year.

Risk Committee:

- a. A committee for risk management shall be formed from the board of directors, including three non-executive members, including the chairman of the committee. Such committee shall be responsible for providing the board with consultancy on the company's current and future risk strategy and appetite, as well as oversight of the executive management's application of such strategy. The board of directors may outsource risk management by hiring external consulting firms with expertise in risk management in order to support the efforts of the risk committee at the company, and enhance effectiveness of the committee's role.
- b. Risk Committee shall review the company's risk management policies and strategies prior to board approval. The company's executive management shall be responsible for implementing such strategies, in addition to developing policies and procedures regarding the management of the various types of risks.
- c. The company's executive management shall propose the structure, roles, responsibilities, and development approaches of the risk department. The structure and roles of such department shall be reviewed by the risk committee, in prelusion for approval by the board of directors.
- d. Risk committee shall cope with the rapid developments and increasing complexities that occur in the company's risk management, together with providing the board of directors with periodic reports on such developments.
- e. The head of risk management department shall submit reports directly to the chairman of the risk committee.

Third: Internal and External Audit

The board of directors and executive management should effectively capitalize on the internal audit business, external auditors, as well as the reports issued on the assessment of the internal control systems.

Internal Audit:

- a. The company shall provide the internal audit department with adequate number of qualified human resources, whom should be trained and rewarded adequately. Internal audit department shall have the right to obtain any information, or contact any employee within the company. It shall be given all powers, enabling it to perform the assigned tasks to the required level. The board of directors shall approve the audit code or program and circulate it within the company.
- b. The board of directors' approval shall be obtained upon appointing a new head of internal audit. Internal auditors shall be appointed upon the approval of the head of internal audit.

- c. Internal audit department shall report to the chairman of the audit committee.
- d. Internal audit employees must not be assigned to any executive roles. Internal audit department shall be responsible for proposing the structure and scope of internal audit, and shall be responsible of notifying the audit committee of any potential conflict of interests.
- e. Internal audit department shall perform its roles and fully prepare its report without any external interference. It shall have the right to discuss its report with the company's departments of which the works are subject to audit. The financial remunerations of the head of internal audit and the internal auditors are determined by the audit committee emanating from the board of directors.
- f. The board shall direct the internal audit department to focus on audit on riskbasis. The main responsibility of internal audit department shall include:
 - 1. Verifying and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control systems, and verifying comprehensiveness of the internal control systems relating to financial and administrative matters, which shall be supervised and reviewed in due course.
 - 2. Verifying compliance with the company's internal policies, and the relevant laws, policies, regulations and instructions.
 - 3. Conducting examination of the specific activities and operations relating to the company's financial position, internal control systems, risk management, etc.
- g. The board of directors shall regularly enhance the internal audit function in the company, in which the company should abstain from outsourcing any of the major roles of audit. In the events where the bank considers outsourcing certain activities, CBK's approval should be obtained, however, for specific purpose and for a limited timeframe.

External Audit

- a. External auditors should provide the audit committee, emanating from the board of directors, with copy of the audit report. External auditors shall meet with the audit committee to discuss such reports, and any other observations that may arise regarding the bank's matters. Such meetings shall be attended by the executive management. Audit committee shall meet with the external auditors without the attendance of the executive management, at least once a year.
- b. Audit committee shall set up adequate standards to ensure that external auditing is carried out in the manner that achieves the dual audit principle, which rests on the independent work of each external auditor, and to achieve the purpose of appointing two external auditors. Audit committee shall provide the board of directors with reports that support such purpose.

- c. The board of directors shall set up suitable policies regarding rotation of external auditors, so as to prevent lax in oversight, which may occur as a result of long years of continuous external auditors' work in covering the same areas of audit. Such policies shall be consistent with the resolutions issued by Capital Markets Authority.
- d. When the board assigns external auditors of other consultants (other than the bank's external auditors) to review and assess the internal control systems in order to verify adequacy and effectiveness of such systems, such parties should be directed towards focusing review on the areas that contain risks, which may expose the bank to high operating risk, and other areas of which review may apparently be important in light CBK's reports, observations and directives.

Audit Committee:

- a. The audit committee shall be formed from the board members, consisting of three members, including the chairman of the committee whom should be non-executive member.
- b. At least two audit committee member should possess academic qualifications and/or practical experience in the financial areas.
- c. Audit committee shall practice the responsibilities and powers vested in it, including review of the following:
 - 1. Scope, findings, and adequacy of the company's internal and external audit.
 - 2. Accounting issues of material impact on the financial statements.
 - 3. The company's internal control systems, and ensure sufficiency of all resources provided for supervisory functions.
 - 4. Reviewing the company's financial statements prior to presentation to the board of directors, as well as ensuring adequate provisions.
 - 5. Ensuring the company's compliance with the relevant laws, policies, regulations and instructions.
- d. Audit committee shall annually appraise the performance of the head of internal audit and determine his remuneration.
- e. Audit committee shall draw its recommendations to the board regarding the appointment, termination, and remuneration of the external auditors, any other contractual terms relating to the external auditors, in addition to assessing their objectivity.

- f. Audit committee shall have the authority to obtain any information from the executive management, in addition to its right to call on any executive employee or board member to attend its meetings, provided that it is written in the code that contains the roles and responsibilities of the committee.
- g. Audit committee shall meet with the external auditors, internal auditor, and compliance officers at least once a year, without the attendance of the executive management.
- h. Audit committee shall meet at least once every three months, as needed, or upon the request of the committee chairman or the two other members. Head of internal audit shall participate in the periodic meetings of the audit committee.
- i. The board secretary shall take over secretariat of the audit committee. Minutes of its meetings shall be taken, and considered among the company's records. Such minutes shall be made available to CBK inspectors.
- j. The responsibility of the audit committee shall not replace the responsibilities of the board or the executive management with regard to supervision over the adequacy of the company's internal control systems.

Pillar Five: Remuneration Granting Systems and Policy

Malpractices in allocating remuneration were among the factors that contributed to the recent global financial crisis. Numerous banks, financial institutions and other companies in many countries failed to take the risks into account in their practices, which encouraged them to intensively take long-term risks in order to boost their short-term profit to obtain high remuneration in light of applying remuneration systems that rely on the volume of profit. This resulted in depletion of assets and resources of such institutions, undermining their financial capabilities to confront the losses they sustained later.

It is now obvious that the existence of formal regulations and procedures to address such gaps in the remuneration systems is an integral part of the financial reform programs that occurred during the global financial crisis, while ensuring that controlling the remuneration systems and policy is one of the significant pillars of corporate governance standards.

Within the framework of such reforms, the financial stability board developed a set of principles and standards relating to the proper remuneration practices. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision adopted such principles and standards, and recommended their application in **developing remuneration systems and policy, which must be correlated to risk levels and soundness of the long-term conditions of the financial institutions, while increasing the participation and effectiveness of the boards of directors of such institutions in setting policies for remuneration in line with the risk strategy of such institutions, as well as emphasizing that remuneration for risk-related and supervisory functions must be specified by parties with activity independent from those functions (i.e. assessment should not be made by people related to the areas of business supervised by those working in such supervisory functions).**

Principles and standards, included in these instructions issued by CBK, aim at setting a minimum requirement for such standards, providing CBK and finance companies with a supervisory manual to prepare, assess the policies and procedures of granting financial remuneration, and encouraging an effective risk management. Hence, the objective of such rules and regulations is to address the risks arising from the remuneration granting policies, rather than to specify the maximum amount of financial remuneration, which will continue to be specified by the companies themselves according to their remuneration granting policy.

1. General Controls:

a. The company that has licensed financial subsidiaries operating in the State of Kuwait should set up a policy and practices to grant remuneration at the

group level that is in line with such rules, or should ensure that the remuneration granting policy at such subsidiaries are in line with such rules.

b. The company that has licensed subsidiaries operating outside the State of Kuwait, or has a branch carrying out business in a foreign country, should ensure that the financial remuneration granting policy and practices of such subsidiary or branch are in line with such rules, and that there is no in conflict with the legal and regulatory requirements in the host country.

2. Remuneration Granting Governance – The Role of the Board of Directors:

The board of directors should effectively supervise the remuneration systems and operations, and control and review remuneration systems to ensure they operate in the required manner. In this context:

- a. The board of directors shall be responsible for the preparation and supervision of the financial remuneration granting policy. Accordingly, the board may not assign the executive management with such responsibility.
- b. Despite the establishment of the "Remuneration Committee", the entire board shall eventually be fully responsible for enhancing the formulation of an effective governance and sound practices for granting financial remuneration.
- c. The board of directors shall review the recommendations of the remuneration committee regarding the consequent modification or update of the remuneration granting policy, and shall ensure that such modifications shall not be applied unless approved by the board.
- d. The board of directors shall review the recommendations of the remuneration committee with regard to the level of remuneration proposed to be granted to key personnel, and shall not operate such recommendations unless approved by the board.
- e. The board of directors shall ensure that the company's executive management has set effective systems, precise procedures and supervision mechanism to ensure compliance with application of such rules and standards.

3. Remuneration Granting Policy:

- a. Every company should have a written remuneration policy approved by its board of directors, which reflects the objectives of the company, taking into consideration the company's sound operations and financial position.
- b. Such policy should cover all aspects and components of granting financial remuneration, within the framework of enhancing the effectiveness and

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- management of the company's risks. Such policy shall be prepared to attract and maintain employees of proven efficiency, knowledge, skills, and expertise necessary to perform financial business.
- c. The company should ensure that the financial remuneration granting policy include cases of decline in its financial performance, as well as setting appropriate standards related to the possibility of reducing the total financial remuneration granted in the event of poor or negative financial performance of the company, including the controls related to setting up a "Claw Back" system. The claw bank system shall be set up in light of the broad concept of financial remuneration, as stated under the Definitions Chapter of the Instructions.
- d. The board of directors, via the remuneration committee, should ensure that an independent annual review is conducted for the remuneration granting policy, whether such review is conducted by the internal audit department of the company, or by external consultants. Such review aims at evaluating the company's compliance with the financial remuneration granting practices.

4. Performance Measurement:

Financial remuneration granting system should include adequate performance measurements. In this context, each company should:

- a. Have a system for objectively measuring and appraising the performance of its employees at the various levels.
- b. Have a clear written and documented performance appraisal and measurement procedures and processes. Such procedures and processes should provide for avoiding conflict of interest cases, and must be transparent and circulated to all concerned staff.
- c. Have top management members performance measurement based on the company's long-term performance. Accordingly, the element of granting their remuneration should not be based only on the performance of the current year.
- d. Upon appraising the performance and identifying the remuneration of employees in supervisory functions, such as risk management, internal audit department and compliance, ensure that such appraisal is made objectively and in light of the independence of such functions. Thus, such appraisal should not be made by people related to the areas of business controlled by those working in such supervisory functions.

5. Linking Remuneration with the Company's Performance and Risk Timeframe:

In this context, the company shall consider the following:

- a. Remuneration granting policy should be consistent with prudent provision.
- b. Link the financial remuneration with the company's performance in the long term, as well as the performance in the short term, and take into consideration the change in the components of granting financial remuneration in line with the long term risk (risk timeframe).
- c. Review of the financial remuneration granting policy to assess its consistence and effectiveness as a constitute part of the work frame of the company's risk management.

6. Disclosure Requirements:

The company should disclose, in its annual report, the main characteristics of its financial remuneration granting policy, as well as the formation and scope of authority of the remuneration committee. Such disclosure should cover information on the overall design of the remuneration granting policy, the relationship of remuneration granting with the actual performance, and the realization of the objectives of financial remuneration granting policy.

7. Remuneration Committee:

- a. In each company, a remuneration committee shall be formed among the board members, consisting of three members, including the chairman of the committee whom should be a non-executive member.
- b. The functions of the remuneration committee shall include:
 - 1. Preparing the remuneration policy and submitting it to the board of directors for approval and supervision of its application.
 - 2. Conducting a periodic review of the remuneration granting policy, or when recommended by the board of directors, and providing recommendations to the board on amending/updating such policy.
 - 3. Conducting a periodic assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of remuneration granting policy to ensure achieving its announced objectives.
 - 4. Assessing the practices by which the remuneration is granted against future income of uncertain timing and potential.
 - 5. Drawing recommendations to the board regarding the level and components of the remuneration of the CEO and his assistants, as well as those at the level of such functions, including the company's executives.
 - 6. Determining the remuneration granting system in consistence with the principles of sound practices of granting remuneration.
 - 7. Completing any other tasks related to the regulatory requirements.
- c. Members of the remuneration committee should have knowledge, skills and expertise necessary to make independent and objective decisions regarding the remuneration granting policies and practices.
- d. Remuneration committee should work closely with the company's risk committee and/or the head in-charge of risk, when evaluating the incentives proposed by the remuneration granting system.
- e. Remuneration committee should review its policy on an annual basis at least to ensure achieving its prescribed objectives. For this purpose, the committee should request the management to present for them the information concerning the business course of remuneration granting system.

Pillar Six: Disclosure and Transparency

The recent global financial crisis revealed that the poor disclosure and transparency in several institutions in the various countries has been among the set of main factors that collectively contributed to the eruption of the crisis. Such poor performance reflects the gaps and shortcomings uncovered by the crisis in policies and methodologies adopted by financial institutions in disclosure and transparency with regard to their operations, activities, management and operating information.

Good disclosure system is a vital characteristic for market monitoring of the companies' performance and management. In addition, it is a significant element on which basis the shareholders practice all their rights. Disclosure is an effective tool that impacts the companies conduct and protect the investors. The stronger the disclosure system the more contribution to promoting confidence in the financial market. Moreover, shareholders and investors need significant information, which must be correct, inclusive, timely and adequately detailed, to enable those investors to assess the management of such companies and make proper investment decisions.

Significant information is defined as any information affecting the company share prices, or such information of which deletion or failure to disclose would affect the economic decision made by the users of such information.

In this context, enhancing the standards of corporate governance requires that the company's policies contain proper mechanism of accurate, timely disclosure of all significant matters and information relating to the company, including financial condition, performance and operating results, any changes in the company's ownership or management, and any other issues required by the laws and instructions issued in this respect.

First: Disclosure and Transparency Policy:

Corporate governance should be adequately transparent to their shareholders, creditors, stakeholders, and market participants. In this context:

- 1. Each company should have a policy for disclosure and transparency, which should be approved by its board of directors. Such policy, and its amendments, should be set to serve the purposes of the company, stakeholders and related parties, and to upgrade the level of application of corporate governance, within the framework of sound practices of the financial business.
- 2. Disclosure and transparency policies should include all information that should be disclosed in a timely manner and in the method identified by CBK's laws, legislation, resolutions, and instructions.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- 3. The board of directors of each company shall set up the rules and procedures to be followed for compliance with the disclosure and transparency requirements contained in these instructions, and to ensure good application and compliance with such instructions.
- 4. Companies' disclosure policies should determine the mechanisms under which they classify the disclosed information in terms of nature (such as financial information and other information), or in terms of disclosure frequency (monthly, quarterly or annually), in addition to the instantly disclosed information.
- 5. Disclosure and transparency policy should cover the company's objectives and policies regarding the professional ethics and the company's obligations towards the society.
- 6. The board of directors shall be responsible for ensuring the availability of systems and procedures needed for disclosure compliance in a timely manner, periodically or instantly, to avoid, as a result of delay or failure to disclose, the company from violating the instructions.
- 7. Each company should disclose in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and CBK instructions, as well as the applicable laws and regulations in this respect. In addition, the company should be aware of the changes that occur in the international practices regarding the issue of transparency and disclosure required from the financial institutions. The company's board of directors shall be responsible for ensuring adherence to full application of all amendments to IFRS. The company's executive management shall report to the board of directors of such developments, in addition to recommending on the methods of enhancing the company's practices in the area of disclosure, in consistence with the international best practices.
- 8. The company's board of directors shall be responsible for ensuring correctness, accuracy, and integrity of the disclosed information, as well as ensuring compliance with the company's approved policy in this respect, and providing the mechanisms that enable sound application thereof.
- 9. The company's disclosure and transparency policy should cover the principles and rules approved by the company when dealing with customers, whether borrowers, creditors or customers of products and services provided by company in general, particularly with regard to the terms of agreements, costs, and obligations related to each.
- 10. Each company should take into consideration that the quality of disclosed information is a vital matter that the company should thrive to achieve.

- 11. The existence of a good disclosure and transparency policy is insufficient to prove the existence of good practices, as the sound and good application of the contents of the policy is a significant matter that should be monitored and its application should be ensured, including the monitoring and auditing the practices of such activities. Furthermore, developing human beings appropriate to participate and bear the burdens of such practice, as well as determining the functions and responsibilities, in which are fundamental matters and pillars for a good disclosure and transparency system, supports good applications of corporate governance, hence promoting confidence in the company's practices.
- 12. Companies are restricted from disclosing any data or information that affect their conditions or financial positions for certain categories (such as financial analysts, financial institutions, etc.) prior to public disclosure.
- 13. Disclosures and information required by these regulations constitute a complementary part to those imposed by the laws and legislations applicable to these companies, in additions to other instructions issued by CBK in this respect.

Second: Disclosed Information:

- 1. Each company should at least advertise in two daily newspapers and annually, the following annual financial statements (as a minimum):
 - Balance sheet.
 - Income statement.
 - Statement of cash flow.
 - Statement of changes in shareholders' equity.
 - Board of directors' report on the operating results for the period for which the statements are prepared.
 - Audit report by the company's auditors.
- 2. The company's annual report should include a disclosure statement by the executive management on the company's performance and future plans (Management Discussion and Analysis MD&A), allowing the investors to understand the results of current operations, projections, and financial position of the company. The company should confirm that the clarifications to such disclosure are approved by the board of directors, are complete and are based on the company's published financial statements and the management's vision.
- 3. Accurate and timely disclosure, by any of the appropriate means of disclosure, of all important issues and information related to the company, including the financial situation, performance and business results, any changes in ownership or in the management of the company, and any other matters required by the laws and instructions issued in this regard. Taking into account informing and providing CBK instantly with the method of disclosure and the used medium.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

A) Rules and regulations of Governance for financing companies under the Central Bank of Kuwait's supervision.

- 4. The annual report, as part of the compliance with transparency and disclosure, should include:
 - a. Qualifications and experience of the company's CEO, deputies and assistants, as well as information on each member of the board, in terms of qualifications and experience, membership in the board committees, date of appointment to the board, compliance level of each member to attend the board meetings during the year, and membership in the boards of other companies.
 - b. Summary of the roles and responsibilities of the board committees, and any authority delegated by the board to such committees.
 - c. Number of board and board committee meetings.
 - d. Board certificate of adequacy of the internal control systems.
 - e. Board committees, regularity of their members in attending their meetings, any changes in their membership during the year, and main roles they performed during the year.
 - f. The company should disclose, in its annual financial statements, the information on financial remuneration granted to employee categories, amounts for **each category and number of staff for each category**, analysis of the fixed and variable elements, and methods of payment. Employee classification shall include the CEO, his deputies and assistants, key executive managers, whose appointment is subject to the approval of the regulatory and supervisory bodies (senior management), financial and risk control staff, and material risk takers. The company shall disclose such definitions.
 - g. Remuneration package paid to each of the following:
 - 1. Board member remuneration package (as a group).
 - 2. Five senior executives who received highest remuneration from the company, in addition to the CEO, CFO, head of internal audit, and head of risk, if not included (as a group).
 - h. Disclosure of the nature and size of the company's transactions with related parties, who have influence or control over the company, including key management members of those parties.
 - i. Disclosure of the framework through which the financial statements are prepared, their consistence with IFRS, laws, resolutions and instructions issued in this respect, especially CBK instructions.

- j. Disclosure of the systems and mechanisms applied in the company for good management and control of the various risks, for all the company's activities.
- k. Summary of the remuneration policy, as stated under "Disclosure Requirements" of the Pillar on Remuneration Granting Systems and Policy.
- 1. Major shareholders of the company (shareholder or related party owning or controlling over 5% of the company's capital).
- m. Corporate governance manual, and compliance with its clauses.

Third: Organization of the Disclosure Process

- 1. Each company shall maintain a disclosure record of the board members, and executive management, including their information as required by the disclosure and transparency policy and any relevant instructions, resolutions or laws. Such information should be updated instantly with the changes that may occur thereon, such as the remuneration package, salaries, financial benefits, conflict of interests, etc.
- 2. Each company should have a section or unit responsible for disclosure, of which the roles and responsibilities shall be specified by the board.
- 3. Each company should provide the information stated in the company's annual report, its quarterly reports, or the lectures presented by the executive management, on the company's website in an updated manner, and in both Arabic and English.

Fourth: Control over the Company's Disclosure Process

- a. The company's disclosure and transparency policy should determine the following:
 - 1. The mechanisms of audit and control over the accuracy and soundness of the disclosed information prior to dissemination.
 - 2. Mechanisms for addressing the internal information, to ensure non-exploitation of such information before dissemination to the public.
 - 3. Mechanisms for preparation of reports on compliance with such policy, the area assigned to prepare such report, and the procedures to be followed in case of non-compliance with the contents of such reports.
- b. The board of directors of each company should conduct periodic review to reconsider and evaluate the disclosure and transparency policy in light of the surrounding developments and changes.

- c. Upon studying the risks related to their activities, companies should measure and assess the risks associated with disclosure, which may arise from several factors and variables, including risk of inaccurate or incorrect disclosure, or unlawful disclosure.
- d. Each company facing emergent core events, which are not available to the shareholders, and tangibly affecting the company's activity or financial position, thus affecting the trading of its shares, **should disclose such events instantly through proper means**, and CBK should be notified of such events upon their occurrence.

Pillar Seven: Companies with Complex Corporate Structures

Among the several reasons for its eruption, the recent global financial crisis revealed that the large numbers of unnecessary legal entities, leading to legal overlap between such entities, and the overlap of operations among their groups, have led to difficulties and challenges in identifying the risks and difficulty in supervising or controlling the risks of the institution as a whole. Therefore, this issue has been implicated in the good governance standards. In this context:

First: The board of directors and executive management in each company should be fully aware of the company's operational structure and the arising risks, the knowledge of the organizational structure and the overlap among legal entities in the case of the group. In this context:

- 1. The board of directors and executive management should know the company's operational structure and the risks arising from such structure.
- 2. The board of directors and executive management should know the structure and organization of the group in terms of the objectives of each unit or entity, and the formal and informal relations between the units and parent company.
- 3. Sound and effective measurements and systems should be in place to obtain and exchange information between the group's entities, so as to manage and effectively control the risks of the group as a whole.
- 4. The board of directors and executive management should ensure that all products and their risks are assessed by each entity within the group, and on the basis of the group's entities as a whole.
- 5. The board of directors and executive management should recognize the nature of risks that the company may face through branches and subsidiaries operating in regions that do not satisfy the international control standards.

Second: The board of directors should approve clear policies and strategies to establish new structures. The board of directors and executive management should consider the following:

- 1. Avoiding building unnecessary complex structures.
- 2. The existence of central procedures for approval and control over the establishment of new legal entities upon specific standards, covering the ability to supervise and satisfy the requirements for the continuity of each unit.
- 3. Obtaining the ability to extract information on the company's structure, including the type, code, ownership structure and activity of each legal entity.

- 4. Observing the risks associated with the complex structure, including lack of transparency in operational risk arising from the overlap and complexity of the financing structures.
- 5. Assessment of the effect of such risks on the company's ability to manage its risks, so as to identify the group's capital requirements.

Third: In order to enhance good governance for the group, the internal audit of the individual entities of the group should be supported by period assessment of the risks associated with the group structure, whereby such assessment is conducted at least semi-annually.

Pillar Eight: Protection of Shareholders' Rights

The company's work systems, policies and practices must reflect the provisions of laws, regulations and instructions issued by the supervisory entities, including controls and procedures regarding the protection and equitable treatment of shareholders rights, with a particular focus on:

- 1. Protecting basic shareholders rights in relation to securing methods of ownership registration and transfer, participating and voting at general shareholder meetings, sharing in the profits and obtaining regular information on the company.
- 2. Ensuring the shareholders rights to be sufficiently informed or to participate in making decisions concerning amendments to the company's memorandum and articles of association, including the amendments to capital increase through additional shares issue, or the launch of shares under staff share option scheme, re-purchase share, as well as the decisions related to extraordinary transactions influencing the destiny of the company or the course of its business, such as merger or sale of a significant portion of its assets or divestiture of subsidiaries.
- 3. Encouraging effective shareholders participation and familiarizing them with the voting rules, and notify them about general shareholders meetings and the agenda well before the meeting. The venue and date of the meeting should be publicly announced in accordance with the relevant laws, rules and instructions.
- 4. Stressing the importance of disclosure of capital structures or any arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a degree of control.
- 5. All shareholders should be equitably treated, including small investors and foreign investors. All shareholders should have the right to question the acts of the board of directors and to rectify any prejudice to their rights.
- 6. The company should provide the information to the shareholders on a timely basis, allowing them to practice their rights in a perfect manner. Such information should be comprehensive and accurate, without discrimination between shareholders in regards to providing such information.
- 7. Shareholders must be empowered to have access to the minutes of the general assembly meetings.
- 8. The company should prepare a statement of the penalties (financial and non-financial) that are imposed thereon during the financial year, in accordance with the provisions of Article 85 of Law No. 32 of 1968 concerning Currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait, and the Organization of the Banking Business, and its amendments. This statement shall be read by the chairman of the board during the annual general meeting, as specified by CBK's instructions in this respect.

⁹⁻ INSTRUCTIONS TO FINANCE COMPANIES REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS.

Pillar Nine: Protection of Stakeholders' Rights

- 1. The company's work systems, policies and practices should stress respect of stakeholders rights, as specified by the laws, regulations and instructions issued in this respect, and should stress the stakeholders rights to rectify any prejudice to their rights in accordance with the provisions relevant laws.
- 2. Companies should consider that stakeholders rights represent one of the significant aspect of good governance. The company's eventual success is the result of a joint work by several parties: creditors, borrowers, employees, investors, etc., who have transactional relations with such companies.

It should be mentioned that Law No. 32 of 1968 concerning Currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait, and the Organization of the Banking Business, as well as the set of rules and instructions issued to finance companies regarding their practice of the various activities, include controls and fundamentals that provide necessary protection for stakeholders, particularly creditors, borrowers, and shareholders, to ensure protection of the financial positions of such companies, and to activate their role in the service of society and economic development process. Therefore, the companies' compliance with the provisions of the aforementioned law, and CBK instructions, covering controls regarding companies' practice of their activities, constitute the general framework of the major pillars of corporate governance.

18/8/2013